IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 24-438

SCA EFiled: Nov 18 2024
03:25PM EST
Transaction ID 75030707

JOHN R. ORPHANOS, M.D.,
Defendant-Below, Petitioner,

v.

MICHAEL RODGERS,
Plaintiff-Below, Respondent.

PETITIONER JOHN R. ORPHANOS, M.D.'S OPENING BRIEF

**Counsel for Petitioner,
John R. Orphanos, M.D.**

Thomas J. Hurney, Jr. (WV Bar No. 1833)
Blair E. Wessels (WV Bar No. 13707)
JACKSON KELLY PLLC
Post Office Box 553
Charleston, West Virginia 25322
(304) 340-1000
thurney@jacksonkelly.com
blair.wessels@jacksonkelly.com

Richard D. Jones (WV Bar No. 1927)
J. Dustin Dillard (WV Bar No. 9051)
FLAHERTY SENSABAUGH BONASSO, PLLC
200 Capitol Street
Post Office Box 3843

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The Intermediate Court of Appeals (“ICA”) erred in finding that the application of the Medical Professional Liability Act’s (“MPLA”) Trauma Cap was precluded by a jury finding that Plaintiff’s surgery was not an “emergency surgery” under W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(e)(1).
- B. The ICA erred in failing to consider Dr. Orphanos’ previous assignments of error pertaining to the issue of “recklessness” under W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(h)(1), including:
 - 1. The circuit court erred in denying Dr. Orphanos’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Claims Other than Medical Negligence, or in the Alternative, Motion to Bifurcate.
 - 2. The circuit court abused its discretion in denying Dr. Orphanos’ Motion in Limine to Preclude Plaintiff from Asserting or Arguing that Defendant was “Reckless.”
 - 3. The circuit court erred in denying Dr. Orphanos’ oral Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law and post-trial Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law.
 - 4. The circuit court abused its discretion in denying Dr. Orphanos’ pre-trial motions for Partial Summary Judgment and *in limine* regarding recklessness because there was no evidence obtained during discovery or presented at trial supporting a finding of recklessness.
 - 5. The circuit court abused its discretion by giving, despite Dr. Orphanos’ objection, Plaintiff’s proposed jury instruction, which incorrectly defined recklessness as “an act of unreasonable character in disregard for a risk known to him or so obvious that it must be taken that he was aware of it.”
- C. The ICA erred in finding the circuit court did not abuse its discretion or otherwise err in reading Plaintiff’s jury instruction regarding “emergency surgery.”
- D. The ICA erred in finding the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in permitting Plaintiff’s life care planner, Nadene Taniguchi, R.N., who is not a medical doctor, to testify that the stroke

suffered by Plaintiff in 2020 was caused by care rendered by Dr. Orphanos in 2017 because she was not qualified to render medical causation opinions.

- E. The ICA erred in finding that Dr. Orphanos did not preserve the issue of causation on appeal.
- F. The ICA erred in finding the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in permitting Plaintiff's neurology expert, Dr. Daniel Feinberg, to render opinions on the standard of care for neurosurgeons or spine surgeons.
- G. The ICA erred in finding the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in permitting Plaintiff's standard of care expert, Dr. Mark Weidenbaum, to be qualified as an expert in spinal surgery.
- H. The ICA erred in finding the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in precluding Dr. Orphanos from cross-examining Plaintiff's mother with notes she made that contemporaneously describe a discussion she had with one of Plaintiff's treating physicians.
- I. The ICA erred in finding the circuit court committed harmless error in denying Dr. Orphanos' motion *in limine* to preclude evidence that he miscounted vertebral bodies during the surgery.
- J. The ICA erred in finding the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in failing to instruct the jury to disregard Plaintiff's use of a demonstrative pie chart in closing argument.
- K. The ICA erred in failing to apply the cumulative error doctrine.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Statement of Facts

On June 4, 2017, Michael Rodgers ("Plaintiff") crashed his motorcycle, requiring him to be life flighted to Charleston Area Medical Center ("CAMC") General Hospital, a Level 1 Trauma Center, where he received care for his injuries as a trauma patient. J.A. 105. After a CT scan revealed spinal fractures, Plaintiff was admitted to the Surgical Trauma Intensive Care Unit. J.A. 75, 503. On June 5, 2017, in response to a request for a neurosurgery consultation, Dr. Orphanos

assessed Plaintiff and diagnosed a T5 Chance fracture (a transverse fracture through a vertebral body and neural arch). *Id.* Dr. Orphanos determined the spinal fracture was unstable and required surgery. J.A. 105, 503. The following day, after obtaining consent from Plaintiff's mother, Dr. Orphanos performed surgery, which involved placing orthopedic screws into the vertebrae to stabilize the fracture. J.A. 75, 503, 2724.

After the surgery, Plaintiff had no movement in his lower extremities, resulting in Dr. Orphanos ordering a spinal CT scan. J.A. 76, 106, 504. Because the scan did not show evidence of anything explaining the paralysis (spinal cord compression, epidural hematoma, etc.), Dr. Orphanos recommended that Plaintiff be returned to surgery. J.A. 76, 504, 2440. During the second surgery, Dr. Orphanos explored the spine but saw no evidence of compression or any interference with the spinal cord. J.A. 504, 2440. Plaintiff's paraplegia persisted and was ultimately determined to be permanent. J.A. 76, 107. According to a treating physician and defense experts, the paralysis was caused by a spinal cord infarct, *i.e.*, spinal cord stroke that occurred during the surgery, which was neither predictable nor preventable.¹

Plaintiff filed a complaint against Dr. Orphanos on May 30, 2019, alleging three breaches of the standard of care: (1) prior to the first surgery, Dr. Orphanos should have ordered an MRI of the thoracic spine; (2) during the first surgery, Dr. Orphanos should have used a system called intraoperative neurophysiological monitoring ("IONM") to monitor Plaintiff; and (3) after learning about Plaintiff's loss of function following the initial surgery, Dr. Orphanos should have ordered a CT myelogram. J.A. 108–11. Plaintiff further claimed that Dr. Orphanos' treatment amounted to

¹ Dr. Joby Joseph was one of Plaintiff's treating physicians, and during a conversation with Plaintiff's mother, Dr. Joseph said he believed Plaintiff's paraplegia was caused by a spinal cord infarct. J.A. 2422. Dr. Orphanos' causation experts, Dr. Dennis Whaley (neuroradiology) and Dr. Jodi Gehring (vascular neurologist) offered the opinion that Plaintiff's paraplegia was caused by a vascular injury sustained at the time of the motorcycle accident that infarcted the spinal cord. J.A. 223, 3381–82.

gross negligence and recklessness and sought punitive damages.² J.A. 111–13.

While discovery was ongoing, on July 9, 2020, Plaintiff was diagnosed at the Carilion Clinic in Virginia with a right sided, middle cerebral artery embolic stroke, which left him with left sided hemiparesis. J.A. 67, 870–71, 2440. Plaintiff never amended his complaint to allege that Dr. Orphanos’ 2017 care caused or contributed to his July 2020 stroke. *See* J.A. 103–114.

B. Procedural History

1. Pre-Trial Motions

On January 21, 2021, Plaintiff filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, arguing that the “Trauma Cap” in the West Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act (“MPLA”), W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c, did not apply because two statutory exceptions were implicated: (1) the surgery did not qualify as an “emergency” under W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(e)(1); and (2) Dr. Orphanos’ treatment and conduct were “reckless” under W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(h)(1). J.A. 438–446. Dr. Orphanos opposed the motion, asserting with respect to the “emergency surgery” argument that Plaintiff’s emergency condition was still present at the time surgery was performed. J.A. 502–18. As to recklessness, Dr. Orphanos noted that there was no evidence (expert testimony or otherwise) supporting such conduct. The circuit court denied the motion on May 21, 2021, concluding that the jury would determine whether Plaintiff’s surgery was emergent, and whether Dr. Orphanos acted recklessly. J.A. 642–47.

On January 5, 2022 (after the deadline for expert witness disclosure and shortly before the scheduled March 14, 2022, trial date), Plaintiff served a Second Amended Expert Witness Disclosure, which included a new life care plan from Nadene Taniguchi, R.N., and a new economic report by Clifford Hawley, Ph.D., both relating to a claimed connection between Plaintiff’s 2020

² Plaintiff later abandoned his claim for punitive damages. J.A. 799 (“[T]he Plaintiff has *never* alleged punitive damages in this case . . .” (emphasis in original)).

stroke and Dr. Orphanos' 2017 care. J.A. 814–37. Both reports were dated several months prior, and Plaintiff excused not serving them sooner as an oversight. J.A. 818, 823.

Dr. Orphanos moved to exclude the reports, arguing that Plaintiff had not identified an expert to causally link Dr. Orphanos' 2017 care to Plaintiff's 2020 stroke, and that the disclosure and updated reports were untimely produced. J.A. 869–88. In a separate motion, Dr. Orphanos moved to continue the trial date. J.A. 838–44. During a hearing on Dr. Orphanos' motions, Plaintiff's counsel stated he would provide Dr. Orphanos "great latitude" in responding to the new disclosures. J.A. 2368, 2553. On February 24, 2022, the circuit court denied both of Dr. Orphanos' motions. J.A. 867–68, 1350–51.

On March 7, 2022, Dr. Orphanos served his Second Supplemental Expert Witness Disclosure, which included rebuttal expert opinions to Plaintiff's new expert opinions. J.A. 1211–16. Despite the earlier assurance of "great latitude," on March 9, 2022, Plaintiff moved to strike the experts, arguing the supplemental expert disclosure was untimely and prejudicial. J.A. 1349–54. During the March 14, 2022 pre-trial hearing, the circuit court granted in part and denied in part Plaintiff's motion to strike, precluding Dr. Orphanos from offering expert testimony from Dr. Jodi Gehring discussing the effect the 2020 stroke had on Plaintiff's life expectancy. J.A. 2559.

The circuit court addressed other outstanding motions at the pre-trial hearing, including Dr. Orphanos' two motions regarding the claim that he acted with a "reckless disregard of a risk of harm to the patient" under W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(h)(1): (1) Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Claims other than Medical Negligence, J.A. 648–54, 782–93, and (2) Motion *in Limine* to Preclude Plaintiff from Asserting or Arguing the Defendant was "Reckless." J.A. 1001–06. In both motions, Dr. Orphanos argued that none of Plaintiff's experts opined that he was "reckless," and that he had disclosed experts who testified that his treatment met the standard of

care. J.A. 790–91, 1003. As such, Dr. Orphanos argued that there was no evidence, and specifically no expert evidence, that his care amounted to anything beyond simple negligence; thus, Plaintiff should have been barred from arguing “recklessness” at trial. J.A. 2571–72. The circuit court denied both motions, holding that the determination of whether Dr. Orphanos was reckless would be based on the totality of all the evidence presented at trial and not on any one expert’s opinion. J.A. 2571, 2573.

Dr. Orphanos’ other motions addressed at the pre-trial conference included (1) Motion *in Limine* to Exclude Medical Expenses Not Supported by Expert Testimony, relating to the testimony of Nurse Taniguchi, J.A. 1110–13; (2) Motion *in Limine* to Exclude the Testimony of Plaintiff’s Expert, David Feinberg, M.D., Regarding the Applicable Standard of Care, J.A. 1082–87; and (3) Motion *in Limine* to Exclude Evidence or Testimony Regarding Miscounting of Vertebral Bodies During Surgery. J.A. 1032–42. The circuit court denied all three motions. J.A. 2566–68, 2564–66, and 2569–70, respectively.

2. The Trial

The trial began on March 15, 2022, and lasted for seven days. J.A. 2586–3760. Because the circuit court denied Dr. Orphanos’ pre-trial motions on the recklessness issue, Plaintiff’s counsel actively injected recklessness at every turn, including voir dire,³ opening statement,⁴ and

³ During voir dire, Plaintiff asked the following questions: “How about a situation where a doctor doesn’t mean to hurt the patient, but the result is the patient is hurt and it’s shown that a doctor is reckless. Do you believe there are situations where doctors are reckless?” J.A. 3950; “Is there a difference in your mind between making a mistake and being reckless?” J.A. 3951.

⁴ During opening statements, Plaintiff argued, “First, Do No Harm. And when you think about doing no harm, when you listen to the evidence in this case and the things that Dr. Orphanos did and failed to do, it will defy logic that when a doctor makes the wrong choices and the reckless choices and doesn’t treat a patient reasonably and appropriately and responsibly, he does harm. He should not be able to escape accountability or responsibility for the negligent, unreasonable and reckless choices he made during the course of Mike’s care and treatment.” J.A. 2598–99.

closing argument.⁵ But, during trial, no witness testified Dr. Orphanos was reckless or anything close to it.

On the first day of trial, Plaintiff's mother testified. J.A. 2707. During her direct examination, Ms. Rodgers referred to personal notes she made while talking with Plaintiff's treating physicians. J.A. 2722. On cross examination, Dr. Orphanos moved to introduce the notes into evidence. J.A. 2735–38. Without objection, the court admitted the notes. J.A. 2738. Dr. Orphanos then sought to question Ms. Rodgers on her notes about a conversation she had with Dr. Joby Joseph, a treating neurologist, who told her that he believed Plaintiff's paralysis was caused by an "infarction just above T3/T4" that "would have happened at the time of accident" resulting in a "possible spinal stroke," thus supporting Dr. Orphanos' causation defense. J.A. 2738, 2422–23. Plaintiff, reversing his position, objected, arguing the admission of the notes would violate the circuit court's order on Dr. Orphanos' motion *in limine* precluding standard of care or causation opinions not previously disclosed. J.A. 2739–40. The circuit court sustained Plaintiff's objection and disallowed the previously admitted notes. J.A. 2740, 2747–48. Dr. Orphanos, thus, was precluded from inquiring about the conversation.

On March 16, 2022, Plaintiff called Dr. Mark Weidenbaum, his standard of care expert, and moved to qualify him as an expert in spine surgery. J.A. 2774, 2788–89. Dr. Orphanos objected, arguing there was an insufficient foundation regarding whether Dr. Weidenbaum had experience in treating Chance fractures (like the one suffered by Plaintiff). J.A. 2789. The circuit court overruled Dr. Orphanos' objection and qualified Dr. Weidenbaum as an expert. *Id.*⁶

⁵ During closing argument, Plaintiff stated, "And how many times have we talked about the things Dr. Orphanos failed to do, neglected to do, recklessly failed to do, not because he is a bad doctor. Because he made a fatal and serious, reckless mistake when he took Mike into surgery without dotting all the Is, and crossing all the Ts to avoid this catastrophe." J.A. 3656.

⁶ Over objection, the circuit court also improperly allowed Nurse Taniguchi and Dr. Feinberg to opine on

After the presentation of all the evidence, Dr. Orphanos moved for partial judgment as a matter of law under Rule 50(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, arguing that the evidence presented was insufficient to allow the issue of recklessness under W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(h)(1) to be presented to the jury, J.A. 3611–13; specifically, none of Plaintiff’s experts offered testimony demonstrating that Dr. Orphanos’ alleged breaches of the standard of care were “reckless,” and the evidence failed to establish recklessness. J.A. 3611. Plaintiff countered that the MPLA does not require expert testimony on the issue of recklessness, and that the jury could determine recklessness based on the totality of the evidence. J.A. 3612–13. The circuit court denied Dr. Orphanos’ motion, finding that sufficient evidence had been presented for the jury to find in favor of Plaintiff on the issue of recklessness. J.A. 3613.

After the court made this ruling, Plaintiff moved for a directed verdict on whether Dr. Orphanos’ surgery was an emergency surgery to preclude application of the Trauma Cap, arguing that Dr. Orphanos and the defense experts testified that “this was not an emergency surgery.” J.A. 3613. Dr. Orphanos responded that whether the surgery was “emergency” has no impact on the applicability of the Trauma Cap. J.A. 3614–15. Reading directly from the MPLA, Dr. Orphanos argued that the Trauma Cap applies if a surgery is required, even after the patient is stabilized. *Id.* The circuit court denied Plaintiff’s motion for directed verdict, ruling the issue was for the jury to decide. J.A. 3615–16.

Before the circuit court instructed the jury, the court directed counsel to submit a Proposed Jury Charge that reflected the parties’ respective objections to ensure that all objections were preserved. J.A. 3616–17.⁷ The parties jointly submitted the Proposed Jury Charge with Dr.

issues for which they were not qualified. J.A. 3062–63, 2564–66.

⁷ Regarding the Proposed Jury Charge and Instructions, the circuit court stated, “[i]t has your objections on there, so I can guess for purposes of any kind of appeal, I guess I could - - we can file the proposal that you

Orphanos’ objections in red font and Plaintiff’s objections in blue font. J.A. 1948–74. Dr. Orphanos objected to any instruction or interrogatory on the jury Verdict Form referencing recklessness, and to the instruction defining recklessness as misstating the law based on W. Va. Code § 55-7B-9c(h)(1) and West Virginia case law. J.A. 1963. Dr. Orphanos also objected to the inclusion of an instruction on “emergency surgery” because whether the initial surgery constituted an “emergency” was irrelevant to the application of the Trauma Cap. J.A. 1961–62. The circuit court overruled Dr. Orphanos’ objections. J.A. 3615–20.

Dr. Orphanos also objected to the proposed Verdict Form because the first question asked the jury to determine whether “the first surgery performed on Michael Rodgers was an emergency surgery.” J.A. 3618. He objected based on the reasons previously asserted regarding the “emergency surgery” jury instruction and arguments in response to Plaintiff’s motion for directed verdict. J.A. 3618, 3614–15. He also objected to the placement of that question on the Verdict Form, arguing that it should not have been the first question posed to the jury. J.A. 3620. Rather, Dr. Orphanos argued that the first question should be on the standard of care because if the jury found that Dr. Orphanos did not breach the standard of care, then no other inquiries were needed. *Id.* The circuit court left “emergency surgery” as the first question. J.A. 3621.

During Plaintiff’s closing argument, Dr. Orphanos objected to the use of a pie chart, J.A. 1977, that showed pieces of “pie” relating to the claimed damages with, by far, the largest of the “pie” pieces labeled as non-economic damages. J.A. 3689–90. Dr. Orphanos argued that the pie chart inappropriately suggested to the jury a larger amount should be awarded for non-economic damages and requested that the jury be instructed to disregard the pie chart. J.A. 3690. The circuit

all sent in that notes the objections[.] [. . .] Yes, I think for each of these it is in parenthesis the objection and the reason for the objection. [. . .] Yes, that’s why I think it would make sense to file the joint proposed charge that has the objections for each instruction.” J.A. 3616–17.

court overruled the objection. J.A. 3691.

3. Post-Trial Motions

On March 24, 2022, the jury returned a verdict finding for Plaintiff. J.A. 1461–64. The jury found: (1) the first surgery performed on Plaintiff was not an “emergency surgery”; (2) Dr. Orphanos was negligent; (3) Dr. Orphanos’ breach of the standard of care caused or contributed to Plaintiff’s paraplegia; (4) Dr. Orphanos was reckless; (5) Dr. Orphanos’ negligence caused or contributed to Plaintiff’s 2020 stroke; and (6) Plaintiff was not negligent in failing to present to the emergency department prior to his 2020 stroke. *Id.* Based on these findings, the jury returned the following verdict for Plaintiff regarding his paraplegia and the 2017 surgery: Past expenses for care and treatment (\$1,374,079.00); Lost Earning Capacity (\$591,166.00); Future care, treatment and renovation expenses (\$6,511,940.00); Past pain, suffering and loss of enjoyment of life (\$1,000,000.00); and Future pain, suffering and loss of enjoyment of life (\$1,500,000.00). J.A. 1462. For Plaintiff’s 2020 stroke, the jury awarded: Additional future care and treatment (\$1,793,690.00); and Future pain, suffering, and loss of enjoyment of life associated with his stroke (\$5,000,000.00). J.A. 1463. When combined, the total verdict was \$17,770,875.00.

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