IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 24-438

SCA EFiled: Jan 02 2025
03:05PM EST
Transaction ID 75361641

JOHN R. ORPHANOS, M.D.,

Defendant-Below, Petitioner,

v.

MICHAEL RODGERS,

Plaintiff-Below, Respondent.

**RESPONDENT MICHAEL RODGERS' BRIEF IN
OPPOSITION TO PETITIONER JOHN R. ORPHANOS, M.D.'S
OPENING BRIEF, WITH CROSS-ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR**

John W. Barrett, Esq. (WVSB #7289)
P. Gregory Haddad, Esq. (WVSB #5834)
Kerrie L. Haddad, Esq. (WVSB #9439)
BAILEY GLASSER, LLP
209 Capitol Street
Charleston, West Virginia 25301
Tel. No. (304) 345-6555
Fax No. (304) 342-1110
jbarrett@baileyglasser.com
ghaddad@baileyglasser.com
khaddad@baileyglasser.com

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

A defendant cannot fail to propose an instruction on a key element of an affirmative defense, and then appeal the instruction actually given. The circuit court’s instruction sufficiently tracked the language of the nonemergency exception, and perhaps more to the point, there was not a shred of evidence to suggest the Rodgers surgery was in any way emergent. App. 1436-60.

b. The recklessness instruction provides no basis to reverse.

The trial court instructed that “Michael Rodgers has asserted that the Defendant was not only negligent, but that he was reckless in the care provided to Michael Rodgers. Recklessness means an act of unreasonable character in disregard for a risk known to him or so obvious that it must be taken that he was aware of it.” App. 3636. This tracks *Cline*, which holds that recklessness requires that one “has intentionally done an act of an unreasonable character in disregard of a risk known to him or so obvious that he must be taken to have been aware of it, and so great as to make it highly probable that harm would follow.” *Cline*, 310 S.E.2d at 838.

Orphanos’ first challenge (at 31) is that the instruction should have tracked verbatim the language of the trauma cap’s recklessness exception, which exempts from the caps conduct in “willful and wanton or reckless disregard of a risk of harm to the patient.” W. Va. Code § 55-7B-

9c(h)(1). However, those terms are synonymous, and can be used “according to taste.” *Cline*, 310 S.E.2d at 838 n. 6 (“[W]e wish to make clear that we are using the words ‘willful,’ ‘wanton,’ and ‘reckless’ misconduct synonymously”). The circuit court was free to choose any of them.

Orphanos’ second argument is that the instruction’s reference to an “unreasonable act” somehow reduces the standard to one of mere negligence—but this ignores that the instruction required a finding that the act be one “in disregard for a risk known to him or so obvious that it must be taken that he was aware of it.” App. 3636. Once again, this tracks both *Cline* and the evidence at trial that Orphanos should have taken precautions *before* (through a presurgical MRI, which would have alerted him to the spinal cord’s condition), *during* (by using IONM, without which Orphanos was operating “blind as to what is going on with the spinal cord”), and *after* (by performing a CT myelogram, a failure that gave Mr. Rodgers, already rendered paraplegic through the first surgery, “zero chance of recovery”) the surgery, a series of failures that Dr. Weidenbaum testified led to “catastrophic” effect that required Orphanos to “pull out all the stops and do anything under [his] power to help,” App. 2865-66, which he failed to do.

3. As the ICA held, the Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion by qualifying Plaintiff’s experts.

Both the circuit court and the ICA rejected Orphanos’ Rule 702 qualification challenges to expert testimony from three of Plaintiff’s expert witnesses—Nurse Taniguchi, Dr. Feinberg, and Dr. Weidenbaum. But again, Defendant ignores the standard of review, which resolves these contentions of error. *See Mayhorn v. Logan Med. Found.*, 193 W. Va. 42, 44, 454 S.E.2d 87, 89 (1994) (“Whether a witness is qualified to state an opinion is a matter which rests within the discretion of the trial court and its ruling on that point will not ordinarily be disturbed unless it clearly appears that its discretion has been abused.”).

Nurse Taniguchi. In his motion for new trial at the circuit court and his brief before the ICA, Defendant argued the circuit court should have precluded Nurse Taniguchi from “testifying regarding a causal link between Plaintiff’s 2020 stroke and Dr. Orphanos’ 2017 care.” Pet. Br. 26. But as the ICA found, 903 S.E.2d at 640, not only did Nurse Taniguchi offer no such causation testimony, the circuit court ordered that she “*can’t* give causation testimony.” App. 2567 (emphasis added). Instead, the circuit court ruled it “permissible” for Ms. Taniguchi to read “from an infectious disease doctor’s record at Carilion that says [Plaintiff] had an ulcer on his buttocks that seeded the valve that caused the stroke” and that it is “common knowledge” that “people that are paralyzed get bed sores.” App. 2467-68.

Nurse Taniguchi did what life care planners do: she drew pertinent information from Rodgers’ medical records—he was paralyzed, developed bed sores, and had a stroke—to calculate what would be necessary for his future care.⁶ As the ICA found, 903 S.E.2d at 640, the circuit court did not abuse discretion in allowing Nurse Taniguchi to testify for these purposes.

To the extent Orphanos now claims Rodgers failed to present causation testimony linking his 2020 stroke to Orphanos’ paralyzing surgery in 2017, the ICA was correct in finding that Orphanos had not properly made or preserved any such argument, either in the Circuit Court or the ICA. 903 S.E.2d at 640 n.20. And for good reason; defense experts agreed that his stroke was caused by bedsores that developed as a result of the paralysis.⁷ And to the extent Orphanos claimed the paralysis was the result of Mr. Rodgers’ own negligence, the jury concluded Mr. Rodgers was not contributorily negligent, and rejected conflicting evidence. App. 1463.

⁶ *Frometa v. Diaz-Diaz*, No. 07 Civ. 6372(HB), 2008 WL 4192501, at *2-3 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 11, 2008) (life care planner’s experience and review of medical records was sufficient to qualify under *Daubert*); *North v. Ford Motor Co.*, 505 F. Supp. 2d 1113, 1119-20 (D. Utah 2007) (life care planner had sound methodology and met *Daubert*, and she could rely on other expert’s reports or information).

⁷ See App. 3311, 3317-20, 3323.

Dr. Feinberg. Orphanos’ challenge to the trial court’s qualification of Dr. Feinberg to testify is puzzling. He was offered as an expert in the fields of neurology, neurophysiology, neuromuscular medicine, and IONM—a ruling that Orphanos did not object to at trial. App. 2671-73. The issue is waived. Syl. Pt. 5, *Tennant*, 459 S.E.2d at 379 (“Failure to make timely and proper objection to remarks of counsel made in the presence of the jury, during the trial of a case, constitutes a forfeiture of the right to raise the question thereafter[.]”).

Nonetheless, Orphanos now Monday-morning quarterbacks a challenge to his qualifications. Orphanos made the right call on game day. Dr. Feinberg, whose specialties include clinical neurophysiology, co-founded the Spine Center at the University of Pennsylvania, which performs more than 4,000 spine surgeries each year. App. 2669. He regularly treats patients in the hospital with injuries to the spinal cord, including spinal strokes, and “works very closely with the surgeons both neurosurgeons and orthopedic surgeons that take care of spinal patients.” App. 2666-68. The “most common part of [his] practice” is working “with neurosurgeons and spine surgeons evaluating patients pre-operatively all the way through their postoperative” care, including “complicated patients” and “trauma patients.” App. 2670-71. Dr. Feinberg uses IONM on all patients with thoracic spine injuries. App. 2671-73.

Regardless, Orphanos now claims that because Dr. Feinberg is not a neurosurgeon he cannot testify about the standard of care. But the MPLA does not require an exact correlation between the Defendant’s specialty and the expert’s specialty. Rather, it is sufficient if “the expert witness is engaged or qualified in a medical field in which the practitioner has experience and/or training in diagnosing or treating injuries or conditions similar to those of the patient.” W. Va. Code § 55–7B–7. The Supreme Court in 1994 confirmed this approach in the seminal case on expert qualification, *Mayhorn*, 193 W. Va. at 49–50, 454 S.E.2d at 94–95, which held that an

expert “is not barred from testifying merely because he or she is not engaged in practice as a specialist in the field about which his or her testimony is offered.” *Id.* The test for qualifying as an expert is more relaxed: “[T]o qualify a witness as an expert on the standard of care, the party offering the witness must establish that the witness has more than a casual familiarity with the standard of care and treatment commonly practiced by physicians engaged in the defendant’s specialty.” *Id.* Moreover, “[d]isputes as to the strength of an expert’s credentials ... go to weight and not to the admissibility of their testimony.” *Gentry v. Mangum*, 195 W. Va. 512, 527, 466 S.E.2d 171, 186 (1995). The opposing party is then free to present contrary evidence and, of course, to subject the expert to cross examination. *Gentry*, 466 S.E.2d at 186 (cited authority omitted). Orphanos did that, without success.

Dr. Feinberg’s testimony that Mr. Rodgers’ paralysis was caused by the surgery, and that the standard of care in performing a thoracic spine surgery requires use of IONM, App. 2673-75, fits comfortably within his expertise. There was no error in admitting his testimony, particularly considering Orphanos never objected to it.

Dr. Weidenbaum. After arguing that Dr. Feinberg would have to be a neurosurgeon or spine surgeon to testify as to the standard of care, Defendant says that Plaintiff’s expert Dr. Weidenbaum, who *is* a board-certified spine surgeon, is also unqualified, because of what Defendant characterizes as his limited experience with Chance fractures. Br. at 35-36. Here again, Defendant ignores the liberal standard for expert qualifications under Rule 702 and confuses fodder for cross-examination with grounds for disqualification.

In fact, it is hard to fathom an expert more qualified than Dr. Weidenbaum to opine as to the standard of care for spinal surgeries. After medical school and a residency in general surgery, Dr. Weidenbaum completed a three-year residency in orthopedic surgery and a one-year

fellowship specializing in spine surgeries, almost forty years ago. App. 2776-79. Since that time, he has devoted his medical practice exclusively to spine surgery while working at Columbia-affiliated hospitals in New York. App. 2780-82. He is board-certified in that field. *Id.* He has written peer-reviewed articles and lectured internationally on subjects relating to spine surgery. App. 2785-87. He also has experience treating patients with Chance fractures, including surgeries like Mr. Rodgers' where the placement of rods and screws was required. App. 2787-88.

The court easily qualified Dr. Weidenbaum as an expert in spine surgery (App. 2789) under *Mayhorn*, which requires only a "casual familiarity with the standard of care and treatment commonly practiced by physicians engaged in the defendant's specialty." 454 S.E.2d at 95. Moreover, Defendant had ample opportunity to cross-examine Dr. Weidenbaum regarding his experience with Chance fractures. App. 2866-67. The circuit court did not abuse its discretion in allowing his testimony.

4. The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion in precluding Defendant from cross-examining Plaintiff's mother regarding notes of her conversation with one of Plaintiff's treating physicians.

Before trial, *the Defendant* moved to exclude testimony from the Rodgers family concerning the standard of care and causation—hearsay testimony they were clearly unqualified to address. App. 1114-15. The circuit court agreed. App. 2561-62; App. 61-65 (precluding lay testimony "on causation, why something happened, if they are being told by a treating physician").

Then, in an about-face, *the Defendant* sought to examine Plaintiff's mother Bonnie Rodgers, a lay witness with no medical training (App. 2707-08), about the very thing he successfully sought to exclude: hearsay statements, recorded in her notes, about a conversation she had with one of her son's health care providers, a "Dr. Jodi Joseph." App. 2737-40.

The circuit court committed no error here, as the ICA found. First, it is not an error to refuse to admit evidence the proponent of the evidence himself has sought to exclude. Second, Mrs. Rodgers’ notes about a conversation she had with one of her son’s physicians is obvious hearsay under Rule 802, and the circuit court properly excluded it. Third, while Orphanos now tries to argue for the first time on appeal that Mrs. Rodgers’ notes were admissible under Rule of Evidence 612(b), he does so based on a misreading of the rule. The rule gives “an adverse party certain options when a witness uses a writing or object to refresh memory ... while testifying,” including the right “to cross-examine the witness about it, and to introduce in evidence any portion *that relates to the witness’s testimony*.” *Id.* Mrs. Rodgers did not testify as to causation of her son’s spinal cord injury—in fact the *in limine* ruling precluded her from so testifying—nor was she remotely qualified to do so, so her notes do not “relate to [her] testimony.”

And finally, what possible admissible testimony could a lay witness provide about a nebulous note that “Dr. Joseph ... thinks there was an infarction just above T3/T4—if a contusion, then paralysis would have happened at time of accident and there would have been no movement of the lower extremities when he got to trauma unit, possible spinal stroke”? Pet. Br. 32 n.16. Defendant could have had Dr. Joseph testify as to those opinions, if he could testify to them to a reasonable degree of certainty—and if he could somehow explain why Mr. Rodgers’ preoperative lower extremity neurology was “completely normal” when he got to the trauma unit. App. 2680-83. He did not.

5. The Circuit Court did not abuse its discretion by denying Dr. Orphanos’ motion in limine regarding the miscounting of vertebrae during surgery.

Nor did the circuit court abuse its discretion by denying Defendant’s motion to exclude evidence that he miscounted Plaintiff’s vertebrae during surgery. Defendant argues that this decision was improper because “whether Dr. Orphanos miscounted the vertebral bodies was of

no consequence to this case.” Br. at 39.

Defendant’s argument misses the point of Dr. Weidenbaum’s testimony, which *showed why Defendant’s failure to use IONM* violated the standard of care. As Orphanos concedes, Dr. Weidenbaum was careful to testify that the misplaced screw, alone, did not breach the standard of care. App. 2826 (“Q. [I]s miscounting the vertebra a failure or deviation from the standard of care? A. No.”). But Dr. Weidenbaum went on to explain that if Dr. Orphanos had used IONM during the surgery, he would have received a real-time alert to the impact of the misplaced screw on the spinal cord, and could have taken corrective action to remove the screw or decompress the spinal cord right then and there. App. 2860-61. Because this testimony about the misplaced screw was directly relevant to the significance of the underlying deviation from the standard of care, the court was within its discretion in admitting that evidence.

Moreover, Plaintiff’s counsel never stated or implied that the miscounting of the vertebrae was evidence of negligence; the transcript passages Defendant cites in his brief make that clear. *See* Br. at 38 nn. 21, 22. To the contrary, it was *Plaintiff’s counsel* who elicited the testimony from Dr. Weidenbaum that miscounting the vertebrae did *not* breach the standard of care. App. 2826. Plaintiff’s counsel also told the jury that “there are occasions on which miscounting can occur” and emphasized that Dr. Weidenbaum confirmed that miscounting the vertebrae “happens.” *Id.* What Plaintiff’s counsel emphasized to the jury in his closing of Dr. Weidenbaum’s testimony was that Dr. Orphanos’ failure to use IONM deprived him of real time monitoring and the chance to take immediate corrective action, and not that screw misplacement breached the standard of care.⁸ Because this evidence went directly to the IONM issue, the circuit

⁸ *See* App. 3671 (Plaintiff’s counsel: “Why is IONM there? Common sense. It’s going to tell you something is wrong. Dr. Orphanos told you if all of this was hooked up, he would have known something was going wrong when he could do something about it and would know, how is our blood pressure? Get it up. Is this — I’m putting in a screw and all of a sudden something is going wrong. Or I’m trying to drive

court did not abuse its discretion in allowing it, nor did Plaintiff's counsel overstep in his opening statement and closing argument.

And even if the circuit court committed error, any error would have been, as the ICA concluded, harmless, especially given Plaintiff's counsel's care in eliciting testimony that miscounting the vertebra was *not* a deviation of care. *Orphanos*, 903 S.E.2d at 643.

6. Plaintiff's use of the demonstrative "pie chart" during closing argument was proper under West Virginia law.

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